1989

Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders v. Martin
S. Ovard, Reva S. Ovard, Ben F. Ovard, Helen T.
Ovard and Jax Hayes Pettey v. Joseph D. Sanders,
Cheryl M. Sanders, Utah State Tax Commission,
Salt Lake County, and Insurance Company of
North America : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this court is properly based upon the transfer of case no. 88-0464 by the Utah Supreme Court to this court under Rule 4A of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals and pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(j) Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended).

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment in favor of the Defendants entered by the Honorable Frank G. Noel on June 6, 1988, and an Order denying Plaintiffs' Motion for a New Trial and to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence entered on October 26, 1988.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence Under Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure where evidence concerning the issues of mistake and illegality was presented and tried at trial without objection by the opposing party?

2. Was there sufficient evidence presented at trial to sustain a finding that the Defendants made a number of representations either negligently and/or fraudulently which induced the Plaintiffs to act to their detriment and thereby causing Plaintiffs to sustain substantial damages?

3. Did the trial judge err in basing his decision on his physical inspection of the property as it appeared at the time of trial without foundation for the view regarding its appearance at the time of Plaintiffs' purchase in 1982?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders, appeal from a judgment allowing Defendants to foreclose upon their Trust Deed and awarding them money damages. Plaintiffs then filed a Motion for a New Trial and to Amend Their Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence Presented at Trial. The court denied that Motion on October 26, 1988. Plaintiffs appeal both those Orders.

In March of 1979, Defendants Ovard purchased two acres of property from Mr. Layne Newman. (Trial Transcript, (hereinafter "Tr.") 58, Trial Exhibits 12-D and 13-D) That transaction was accomplished by two trust deeds, each covering one acre. (Tr. 206) At approximately the same time, Mr. Ovard and Mr. Newman submitted a request for a variance to the City of Draper. (Tr. 61, Trial Exhibit 7-P) Their request was accompanied by a plat showing five acres divided into a three-acre lot (Mr. Newman's) and a two-acre lot (Mr. Ovard's). (Tr. 61, Trial Exhibit 6-P) The City of Draper granted them a variance to build one home on each lot subject to three conditions. (Tr. 61, 64, Trial Exhibit 8-P) Mr. Ovard then constructed his home on the two-acre parcel.

In July of 1982, the Sanders purchased the home built by Martin Ovard in Draper, Utah. (Tr. 151) Soon after occupying that home, they became aware of some activity on the unimproved acre directly to the north of their property which indicated that the land might be sold and built upon. (Tr. 152) Plaintiffs feared that construction on that adjoining acre would diminish their

enjoyment of their property. (Tr. 153) Therefore, Plaintiffs decided to make inquiries into purchasing the property for themselves.

Joseph Sanders contacted Fred Hale, the realtor who had sold them their residence. (Tr. 153) He explained that he and his wife might be interested in buying the adjoining property in order to prevent someone else from building upon it. (Tr. 155) They examined the listing agreement and a plat map which had been supplied by the Defendants' realtor and agreed to make an offer on the property owned by the Ovarads. (Tr. 153) The amount of their offer was based in part upon the asking price for other parcels of the same approximate size which could be built upon. (Tr. 156, 157) Plaintiff paid \$26,000.00 for the land. (R. 201, Trial Exhibits 1-P, 2-P and 3-P)

Subsequent to this time, Plaintiffs inadvertently learned that the unimproved north parcel was to be sold in a tax sale. (Tr. 159) Further investigation led Mr. Sanders to the discovery that the parcel he had purchased from the Defendants and the parcel upon which his residence was situated, had been split by the Defendants. (Tr. 17) Mr. Sanders further learned that both parcels were subject to a variance which imposed certain conditions upon the land and that the City of Draper would not issue a building permit for the unimproved property. (Tr. 168)

Plaintiffs approached Defendants in the hopes of resolving this matter informally and offered to reduce the purchase price to an amount which approximated the property's true value as an unimprovable lot. (Tr. 171) Negotiations broke down and when

Plaintiffs refused to make any further payments on the property, Defendants initiated a nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding. (Tr. 171)

Plaintiffs filed this fraud action in the Third Judicial District Court and the matter was tried before the Honorable Frank G. Noel on October 26 and 27, 1987. At the conclusion of those proceedings, Plaintiff moved to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence. Judge Noel took the matter under advisement until he had an opportunity to physically inspect the property. (R. 142)

The court issued a memorandum opinion on December 4, 1987, finding in favor of the Defendants on their counter-claim and finding no cause of action on Plaintiffs' complaint. (R. 142-143) The court's decision sets forth certain observations about the property which were not consistent with the appearance of the property when purchased by the Plaintiffs in 1982. (R. 142-143)

Plaintiffs then filed a Motion for a New Trial and to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence (R. 222) The trial court denied both of those Motions and Plaintiffs now appeal seeking a new trial. (R. 255)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Rule 15(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure mandates that pleadings be amended to conform to evidence which is heard without objection at trial. Evidence was presented at trial on the issues of illegality and mistake and Defendants impliedly consented to the introduction of those issues. Therefore, Judge Noel erred in denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend the Pleadings.

II. The evidence presented at trial is sufficient to sustain a finding of common law fraud and/or negligent misrepresentation on the part of the Defendants. Plaintiffs' reliance on those representations was reasonable and they were subsequently damaged as a direct result of their reliance in purchasing the property in question from the Defendants.

III. While it is proper for a trier of fact to view real property to clarify testimony at trial, it is improper for a trial judge to view premises for the purpose of determining facts not in evidence. Further, the power to view should be exercised with extreme caution where there is a likelihood that the condition of the property has changed with the passage of time. The judge relied upon his view of the property in finding that Plaintiffs did not exercise due diligence in investigating the property they were purchasing in 1982; this constitutes a reversible error.

ARGUMENT

I. RULE 15(b) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
MANDATES THAT PLEADINGS BE AMENDED TO CONFORM TO
EVIDENCE WHICH IS ADMITTED WITHOUT OBJECTION.

Rule 15(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (attached as Addendum A) addresses the amendment of pleadings to conform to the evidence. It reads in relevant part:

(1) When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendments of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues.

a. Illegality.

In the trial of this matter the issues of illegality and mistake were raised and proved by Plaintiffs' counsel and tried with the implied consent of the Defendants.

There was evidence introduced at trial by Plaintiffs' trial counsel regarding the illegal division of Ovard's property into two one-acre parcels. The variance he received from the City of Draper, which allowed him to build on his land, was for one house on a two-acre parcel. (Tr. 61, Trial Exhibit 6-P) Thomas L. Spencer, the development director for the City of Draper, testified that the split of the two acres by Ovard, which occurred subsequent to the incorporation of the City of Draper, was subject to all the land use regulations for the city. (Tr. 17)

Q: And in researching the files (on the subject property), what did you determine needed to be done to obtain a building permit?

A: It appeared from the information in the files that the property in question had been a second split of the property, of the original property, from the time the city had incorporated, and would have to meet all the subdivision regulations.

Q: Why is that significant? What are the subdivision regulations here?

A: It entails a whole section on our land use regulations.

Q: Could you direct me to access; what would be required? Perhaps you could just summarize those and tell me what

would be required regarding access to comply with the subdivision requirement.

A: Generally speaking, access has to be by a dedicated street of a minimum right away (sic) width of 50 feet.

Mr. Spencer then testified that the subdivision regulations were in effect in November of 1982. (Tr. 19)

Q: Could a building permit have been issued on the lot of Mr. Sanders in November of 1982?

A: Yes, had they met all the subdivision regulations.

Q: Including access?

A: Including access.

In his cross-examination of Mr. Spencer, Defendants' counsel raised the possibility of a variance which might allow development on the north acre. (Tr. 23)

Q: Under the ordinances that were in effect in November of 1982, it would not be a given that you could not get a variance for a building on a lot that was not adjacent to a dedicated street; isn't that right?

A: Under the current land use regulations the process first would be determined whether he had to meet the subdivision requirements or not. That would be determined by probably the Planning Commission and the City Counsel. (sic) If it was determined that they do not have to be processed as a subdivision, then they would still have to receive a conditional use permit from the Planning Commission and probably a variance from the Board of Adjustments.

While it is true that the minimum right of way regulation can be circumvented with a variance, Mr. Ovard did not apply for another variance showing a division of the two acres before he sold the one-acre parcel to Mr. Sanders.

Utah state law is quite clear about the legality of the division and sale of the Ovard property. §57-5-3 Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) (attached as Addendum B) sets forth in detail the procedure for legally subdividing property. That statute requires that, "if the land is situated in any city or incorporated town such plat or map shall be approved by its governing body, or by some city or town officer for that purpose designated by resolution or ordinance of such governing body; . . . " Mr. Ovard's division of his two acres into two one-acre parcels did not comply with this requirement. That chapter of the Utah Code continues in §57-5-5 (attached as Addendum B) which reads:

If any person shall sell any lot so platted according to such plat before it is made out, acknowledged, filed and recorded as aforesaid, such person shall be guilty of a misdemeanor for each lot which he shall sell.

Mr. Ovard never acknowledged, filed and recorded his division of the two acres. Therefore he clearly violated this statute, as well as a number of the Draper City ordinances relating to the proper subdivision of real property, when he sold the vacant north acre to Mr. Sanders. This evidence of illegality supports a finding in favor of the Plaintiffs. This point was argued by

Plaintiffs' counsel during and subsequent to the trial and Defendants never raised any objection. (Tr. 175, 178, 179; R. 227-228)

The elements of both unilateral and mutual mistake are supported by the evidence presented at trial and it was an error for the court not to allow the Plaintiffs to amend their pleadings to conform to that evidence.

b. Mistake.

Mr. Sanders believed that the lot he purchased from the Ovarads was a lot which could be developed. (Tr. 157) This belief was reasonable in light of the facts established at trial. For example, a realtor and some potential buyers had staked out the outline of a home on the vacant acre next to Mr. Sanders' home. (Tr. 152, 153) The purchase price of the parcel was comparable to similarly sized lots which were developable in that area, the plat map shown to Mr. Sanders by the realtor indicated an access road passing through the lot where his home was located to the vacant back lot and there were homes being constructed on apparent lots on either side of his home. (Tr. 156-158) In other words, it appeared to be a legal subdivision.

The first part of Rule 15(b) has been interpreted as a mandatory requirement that the trial court grant leave to amend pleadings to conform to the evidence to include issues tried by the express or implied consent of the parties. Lloyd's Unlimited v. Nature's Way Marketing, Ltd., 753 P.2d 507, 509 (Utah App.

1988); Poulsen v. Poulsen, 672 P.2d 97, 99 (Utah 1983). This court most recently addressed the interpretation of Rule 15(b) in Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782 (Utah App. 1987). In that case the court addressed the question of "implied consent" and found that it would exist "where one party raises an issue material to the other party's case or where evidence is introduced without objection, where it appears 'that the parties understood the evidence to be aimed at the unpleaded issues.'" Id. at 785. The court went on to state that the test for deciding whether pleadings should be deemed amended under Rule 15(b) is "whether the opposing party had a fair opportunity to defend and whether it could offer additional evidence if the case were retried on a different theory." Id.

In the present case, the elements of illegality and mistake were supported by uncontested evidence. The Defendants had ample opportunity to introduce evidence supporting the legality of Mr. Ovard's actions in dividing up his two-acre parcel. In addition, Plaintiffs initially made a verbal Motion to Amend at the conclusion of their case. (Tr. 200) At that time, Defendants were put on notice of Plaintiffs' intent to argue that there were issues of mistake involved in that matter. Defendants had the opportunity to rebut and defend the issue of mistake in presenting their case to the court.

In this case, as in Colman v. Colman, there is no indication in the record that the Defendants were surprised or

otherwise disadvantaged in addressing the issues of mistake and illegality. Under the first part of Rule 15(b), it is mandatory that the trial court grant leave to amend pleadings to conform to the evidence to include issues tried by the express or implied consent of the parties. Poulsen, 672 P.2d 97, 99; Lloyd's Unlimited, 753 P.2d 507, 509. The judge's failure to grant Plaintiffs' Motion is adequate basis for reversing his decision and granting Plaintiffs a new trial.

II. THE FACTS SUPPORT A FINDING OF FRAUD AND MISREPRESENTATION.

The elements of common law fraud in Utah are set forth in the case of Pace v. Parrish, 247 P.2d 273 (Utah 1952). Those elements are:

1. a representation made concerning a presently existing material fact which was false;
2. the representor either knew it to be false or made it recklessly knowing he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation;
3. the representation was made for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it and that the other party acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity did so, in fact, rely upon it;
4. the party induced to act is injured and damaged.

Id. at 274, 275. These elements have been interpreted and applied in subsequent cases, the most relevant one being Dugan v. Jones, 615 P.2d 1239 (Utah 1980).

In Dugan, a parcel of land had been listed as comprising 22-3/4 acres. Apparently, less than half that amount was usable land because some acres lay beneath a river bed. The trial court found the vendor not liable for fraud apparently because it was unconvinced the vendor had knowledge of the falsity of his representation.

The Utah Supreme Court reversed, explaining:

[i]n a case where the circumstances impose upon the vendor a special duty to know the truth of his representations or where the nature of the situation is such the vendor is presumed to know the facts to which his representation relates, a misrepresentation is fraudulent even though not made knowingly, willfully or with actual intent to deceive. . . .

. . . .

'The reason, of course, is that the parties to a real estate transaction do not deal on equal terms. An owner is presumed to know the boundaries of his own land, the quantity of his acreage, and the amount of water available. If he does not know the correct information, he must find out or refrain from making representations to unsuspecting strangers. Even honesty in making a mistake is no defense as it is incumbent upon the vendor to know the facts.'

Dugan v. Jones at 1246. Even though the misrepresentation of acreage had been innocently made, the Defendants were found to have negligently misrepresented the facts.

a. The Representations Made by Defendants Were Inaccurate and Made Fraudulently and/or Negligently.

The Sanders contend that the judge erred in ruling that the statements and omissions relied upon by the Plaintiffs were not fraudulent nor were they made negligently. (Tr. 64) The record establishes that Defendant Ovard applied for a variance

with Layne Newman to build one home on a two-acre parcel of property. (Tr. 64, Trial Exhibits 6-P and 7-P) (attached as Addenda C and D) At approximately the same time, he was purchasing those two acres from Layne Newman under two earnest money agreements. (Trial Exhibits 12-D and 13-D) (attached as Addenda E and F) At one time, Mr. Newman had submitted a plat showing five one-acre lots for approval by Draper City. (Trial Exhibit 15-P) (attached as Addendum G) That petition was denied but Mr. Newman continued to use those plat designations in dividing the two acres he was selling to Mr. Ovard. (Tr. 59-60) Mr. Ovard knew that the two-acre parcel was not legally subdivided and that is why his application for the variance shows just one two-acre lot. (Trial Exhibit 6-P) The City of Draper granted the Newman-Ovard variance for two homes (with the Ovard home to be built on two acres-not one) on April 12, 1979. (Trial Exhibit 8-P) (attached as Addendum H)

Sometime later, Ovard encountered financial difficulties while constructing his home and deeded a portion of his interest in one of those artificially and illegally created "lots" to his father as security for a loan. (Tr. 65) He was eventually forced to sell the home on the southern acre and that home was subsequently purchased by the Sanders.

Still encountering financial trouble, Mr. Ovard listed the vacant northern acre with Gerry Whipple, a real estate agent. Mr. Whipple testified that Sam Ovard gave him a plat resembling

Exhibit 15-P, showing the two-acre parcel divided into two lots, never explaining that the two acres were not legally subdivided. (Tr. 81) Ovard admitted not telling Mr. Whipple about the variance on the property which had imposed a number of requirements on the two-acre parcel. (Tr. 71, 82) In addition, the listing agreement described the property as "down a private lane to tree-lined seclusion," with access to utilities, deliberately giving the impression that the site would be developed. (Tr. 83-86, Trial Exhibit 10-P) (attached as Addendum I) The plat did not accurately represent the status of the two-acre parcel. The Ovars failed to disclose the existence of the variance. The representations and omissions were and/or made negligently with the intent of securing a buyer for that property at an inflated price.

When the Ovars caused their property to be listed through the Multiple Listing Service of the Salt Lake Board of Realtors, the listing showed the property as zoned A-1. (Trial Exhibit 10-P) The meaning of the zoning designation at that time was agricultural with a single dwelling built on a one-acre lot. (Tr. 83) Again, the implication raised by the listing was that the property was developable which was intended to secure top dollar for that property even though the Ovars knew that the property could not be built upon without the approval of the city. (Tr. 71, 214)

When the Sanders began to suspect that someone might purchase the north acre of land, they made inquiries into

purchasing that property and relied upon the aforementioned representations in their decision to purchase the property for \$26,000.00. (Tr. 156-157) Their decision was based on the theory that they could eventually sell that lot to a party wishing to build a home on it for an amount in the neighborhood of what they paid for it. (Tr. 156)

b. Plaintiffs' Reliance on Defendants' Representations Was Reasonable.

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