1989

Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders v. Martin
S. Ovard, Reva S. Ovard, Ben F. Ovard, Helen T.
Ovard and Jax Hayes Pettey v. Joseph D. Sanders,
Cheryl M. Sanders, Utah State Tax Commission,
Salt Lake County, and Insurance Company Of
North America : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The granting of leave to amend the pleadings under Rule 15(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is within the broad discretion of the court, and should not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion. Further, Plaintiffs did not sufficiently plead the defenses of illegality or mistake. Therefore, the trial court's decision to deny Plaintiff's Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence should be upheld.

II. A trial court's findings should not be disturbed unless they are so lacking in support as to be clearly erroneous. Plaintiffs have not met their burden to marshal the evidence or to construe it in a light most favorable to the trial court. Therefore, the trial court's finding of an absence of fraud or negligent misrepresentation should not be disturbed.

III. The trial judge's viewing of the property in dispute was proper. Plaintiffs' allegation that the trial judge improperly used information gathered at the viewing is without foundation. The parties agreed to the viewing without condition. Further, the court explicitly stated that its viewing was not of primary importance to its decision. Finally, the judge's statements in regard to the viewing were based on facts in evidence, and are

further supported by evidentiary affidavits submitted in opposition to Plaintiffs' post judgment motion to amend their pleadings.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO AMEND THE PLEADINGS TO CONFORM TO THE EVIDENCE SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED.

When issues not formally raised in the pleadings are tried by the express or implied consent of the parties, Rule 15(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter "Rule 15(b)") allows the amendment of the pleadings. That the issue has been tried by the consent of the parties must be evident from the record. Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citations omitted). Further, it must "appear that the parties understood the evidence was to be aimed at the unpleaded issue." Id. at 785.

- a. The trial court's decision to deny Plaintiffs' motion was within the sound discretion of the court.

This court has stated that there is a mandatory requirement to allow a party to amend its pleadings to conform to the evidence when issues are tried by the express or implied consent of the parties. Lloyd's Unlimited v. Nature's Way Marketing, Ltd., 753 P.2d 507, 509 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). However, the question of whether the issues have been sufficiently tried, and thus the ultimate decision as to whether the amendment should be allowed, remains in the sound discretion of the court. Stratford v. Morgan, 689 P.2d 360 (Utah 1984); Westley v. Farmer's Insurance Exchange, 663 P.2d 93 (Utah 1983). Implied consent to try an issue may be found where there is no objection to introduction of supporting

evidence by an opposing party and where it appears that the opposing party understood that such evidence was aimed at an unpleaded issue. In any event, the opposing party must have had a fair opportunity to defend and introduce evidence. See Colman, supra at 785.

In the present case, Plaintiffs have not shown that the denial of the Rule 15(b) motion was a clear abuse of discretion. To do so, Plaintiffs have to show that they sufficiently tried the issues of illegality and mistake. Plaintiffs cite Colman, supra, to show that they have done so. However, the issue in Colman, that of alter ego, was "fully tried," and evidence concerning "every element" was introduced without objection. Colman, supra at 785.

Any claimed evidence of illegality or unilateral mistake introduced by Plaintiffs in the instant case would also support Plaintiffs' claim of fraud. Plaintiffs' counsel even acknowledged and argued such fact with respect to mistake (Tr. 241-243).

The mere introduction of claimed evidence of mistake did not therefore place Defendants on notice that it was aimed at unpleaded issues of mistake as is required by Colman, supra. The motion of Plaintiffs' counsel at trial (Tr. 200-204) to amend their pleadings to assert mistake was the first act that could be argued to have placed Defendants on notice that Plaintiffs were asserting or relying on a claim of mistake. Defendants immediately objected to such motion (Tr. 200).

Any introduction by Plaintiffs of claimed evidence of illegality likewise supported Plaintiffs' claims of fraud and did

not place Defendants on notice that such evidence was aimed at a claim of illegality. Plaintiffs did not move to amend their pleadings to assert illegality during trial when such a motion was made as to mistake (Tr. 200-204), but such motion was made after trial and after judgment had been entered (R. 210-214, 216-217).

Because Defendants were without notice that Plaintiffs were introducing evidence aimed at mistake and illegality at the time claimed evidence of such theories and issues was introduced, any alleged trial of such issues was not with actual or implied consent of Defendants and was inadvertent. Defendants did not therefore have fair opportunity to defend. This was so, especially with respect to the motion on illegality which was not made until after trial and after formal judgment was entered. Plaintiffs have therefore not satisfied the Colman case upon which they rely.

Finally, as demonstrated in the next subsections, Plaintiffs have not sufficiently established and proven the elements of illegality and mistake and for that reason should not have been allowed to amend their pleadings.

b. Plaintiffs did not sufficiently try and introduce evidence of illegality.

Rule 8(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that a party must set forth the affirmative defense of illegality. To avoid a contractual obligation by claiming illegality, an appellant must show clearly and unequivocally that the contract is illegal. Mitchell v. American Savings and Loan Association, 593 P.2d 692, 694 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1979).

Plaintiffs have not and cannot plead the defense of illegality because they have misconstrued its application. The illegality defense applies to contracts which are themselves prohibited by law or contrary to public policy. See Williams v. Continental Life and Accident Co., 593 P.2d 708 (Idaho 1979); Greer v. Northwestern National Insurance Co., 674 P.2d 1257 (Wash. Ct. App. 1984). Plaintiffs do not allege that the contract between the parties is itself prohibited by law or contrary to public policy, and in fact, there is no statute that prohibits this contract. Rather, Plaintiffs argue that if Defendants illegally divided the property into two one-acre parcels, then a contract purporting to sell one of the divided acres should not be enforced. Even if this concept embraced the defense of illegality, Plaintiffs have not sufficiently tried the defense.

In their brief, Plaintiffs point to certain sections of the Trial Transcript to support their argument that illegality was sufficiently raised at trial (Brief of Appellants, 6-9). However, there is nothing in Plaintiffs' brief or the record which state that Defendants' actions were illegal. In the first part of their brief, Plaintiffs merely allege that Defendants' division of the land is subject to land use regulations. (Brief of Appellants, 6-7; Tr. 17, 19 & 23) At the second part of their brief, Plaintiffs point to another part of the transcript where they allegedly argued illegality. (Brief of Appellants, 8-9; Tr. 175, 178-79) However, these sections of the Trial Transcript are arguments of counsel during an objection at trial. They are not evidence and cannot be

considered in determining whether Plaintiffs tried and put on evidence of illegality.

Plaintiffs also cite Utah statutes for the proposition that Defendants acted illegally. Nevertheless, the applicability of these statutes was not raised at trial. Defendants' basic premise of illegality, i.e., the illegal division of land, is unfounded, as the record clearly shows that Defendants' predecessor owner had already divided the land into two one-acre parcels when Defendants initially purchased the land (Tr. 58, 222; Ex. 12-D and 13-D).

The defense of illegality does not apply to this case. Even if this court finds that it does, Plaintiffs did not sufficiently introduce evidence of it at trial.

c. Plaintiffs did not sufficiently try and introduce evidence of mistake.

Rule 9(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that "all averments of ... mistake shall be stated with particularity." The nature of mistake ultimately relied upon by Plaintiffs is unilateral mistake (R. 227-229), and their brief focuses only on the mistake of Plaintiff Joseph Sanders. The Utah Supreme Court has stated the elements that must be established under unilateral mistake:

(1) The mistake must be of so grave a consequence that to enforce the contract as actually made would be unconscionable.

(2) The matter as to which mistake was made must relate to a material feature of the contract.

(3) Generally the mistake must have occurred notwithstanding the exercise of ordinary diligence by the party making the mistake.

(4) It must be possible to give relief ... without serious prejudice to the other party except the loss of his bargain. In other words, it must put him in statu [sic] quo.

Briggs v. Liddell, 699 P.2d 770, 773 (Utah 1985) (citations omitted).

Using the same analysis as the Briggs court, even if Plaintiffs' evidence is viewed favorably to them, it is still deficient as to at least one element, i.e., the exercise of ordinary diligence. Id. The trial court concluded that "Plaintiffs failed to exercise due diligence at the time of purchase to determine the status of the Property," and that "under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person should have been alerted that there may be access problems ... that should have been investigated." (R. 205-06). Therefore, Plaintiffs have not met their evidentiary burden of showing ordinary diligence on their part.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION THAT THERE WAS NO FRAUD OR NEGLIGENT REPRESENTATION BY DEFENDANTS SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED.

Plaintiffs complain that the trial court did not find that false or negligent representations or opinions were made by Defendants to Plaintiffs and that Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon such representations (Appellants' Brief 11-17). Plaintiffs claim these representations or omissions concerned a zoning variance under which Plaintiffs' house was built and whether the back acre purchased by Plaintiffs from Defendants was part of an approved subdivision and therefore a lot upon which a house could be built. It is noted that although the Plaintiffs' house was built by

Defendant Sam Ovard, the house was not purchased by Plaintiffs from any of Defendants but from an interim owner named Nipco (Tr. 66-67). The trial court did not find the evidence as Plaintiffs wanted. The court, inter alia, found Plaintiffs had in their possession a copy of a subdivision map (Exhibit 15-R) showing the property in question as a lot in a subdivision (R. 202). Such map was not obtained from Defendants but was obtained from county records by the real estate agent engaged by Plaintiffs to assist them (Tr. 113-115). The trial court further found that Defendants did not represent to Plaintiffs anything concerning whether such map was approved or not approved, whether Plaintiffs' house was or was not built pursuant to a zoning variance and that Plaintiffs did not request or ask for any such information (R. 202). The trial court then concluded (and as a prerequisite must have found) that any statements or omissions relied upon by Plaintiffs were not fraudulent or negligent and that even if they were, Plaintiffs reliance on them was not justifiable (R. 205). The court further concluded, because of visible conditions of the property purchased by Plaintiffs, they should have been alerted that access problems may have existed (R. 205-206). Lack of access to a public street is what precluded the ability to build a house on the property without a zoning variance (Tr. 17-19).

Plaintiffs quarrel with the trial courts findings and lack of findings and therefore its conclusions of law and decision. In doing so, however, Plaintiffs have only reargued their version of

the facts and that their legal interpretation thereof should have been accepted by the trial court. More is required.

Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter "Rule 52(a)") states: "In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury ... findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous...." (emphasis supplied) Plaintiffs have not shown that the trial court's findings of fact or lack thereof were clearly erroneous. Thus its findings should not be disturbed.

- a. Plaintiffs have not marshalled the evidence, but rather have recited only those facts that favor their side.

The Utah Supreme Court most recently addressed Rule 52(a) in In re Estate of Bartell, 105 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (March 28, 1989). In Bartell, a widowed spouse appealed from a finding that she was not an "omitted spouse under her deceased husband's will". The court stated that under Rule 52(a), even when appealing a judge's findings of fact as opposed to a jury's findings, an "appellant must marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous.'" Id. at 4 (quoting State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987)).

As in Bartell, Plaintiffs in this case have

not even attempted to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings, nor [have they] attempted to demonstrate that the trial court's findings are against the clear weight of the evidence, as required by Walker. Instead, [they] have essentially reargued the factual case submitted below, construing all evidence in a light

most favorable to [their] case and largely ignoring the evidence supportive of the trial court's findings.

Id.

Plaintiffs' evidentiary burden for fraud is proof by clear and convincing evidence. Secor v. Knight, 716 P.2d 790, 794 (Utah 1986). Not only have Plaintiffs failed to meet which burden, they did not marshal the evidence in an attempt to do so. As a result, this court must "rely heavily on the presumption of correctness that attends [the trial court's] findings," and affirm its judgment. Bartell, supra at 4. A reviewing court does not sit to retry cases submitted on disputed facts. Id.

Because Plaintiffs did not attempt to marshal the facts in support of the trial court's findings and show them to be clearly erroneous, Defendants, though not required to do so, have marshaled and set forth below certain of the evidence which supports the trial court's failure to find that Defendants made intentional fraudulent or negligent representations or omissions as to the zoning variance and buildable status of the property or that, in any event, Plaintiffs had relied thereon. Review of such evidence clearly shows that it supports the trial court's position on how it found and did not find the facts and that the court's position is not against the clear weight of the evidence.

1. Defendants predecessor owner (Mr. Newman) had a map (Exh. 15-P) which showed a division of 5 lots including the one purchased by Plaintiffs from Defendants. Mr. Newman gave Sam Ovard a copy of this map (Tr. 58).

2. Fred Hale (Plaintiffs' realtor who Plaintiffs asked to prepare with them an offer to purchase from Defendants (Tr. 112, 117, 153) obtained Exh. 15-P not from Defendants or Mr. Whipple (the listing real estate agent) but from the County Recorders office (Tr. 113-115).

3. Mr. Hale provided Exh. 15-P to Plaintiffs (Tr. 113-114, 154, 183).

4. Exh. 15-P was not an approved subdivision map (Tr. 76).

5. Defendants did not tell Plaintiffs that Exh. 15-P was a subdivision map (Tr. 183-184).

6. Plaintiffs did not claim Exh. 15-P to be a subdivision map but regarded it only as a boundary survey (Tr. 183-184), and Mr. Sanders was familiar with boundary line surveys because of his experience with them (Tr. 182).

7. Description of property on Exh. 10-P (listing card) as a private lane to tree line seclusion did not mean that someone could have a residence down the lane (Tr. 86).

8. Mr. Whipple never talked to Plaintiffs about the property (Tr. 91-92). He did talk to Mr. Hale, but he never told Plaintiffs or Mr. Hale that the lot was a buildable lot (Tr. 93).

9. Regardless of zoning, one cannot be sure in Draper City that property can be built on until you check with the City (Tr. 83-84).

10. Draper City will give one opinion one time and another opinion another time with respect to improvements on property (Tr. 94).

11. Mr. Whipple advertised the property for sale but never as a buildable lot (Tr. 98).

12. Mr. Whipple was never made aware in his dealings with Mr. Hale that Plaintiffs intended to build on the lot, if in fact they did (Tr. 99).

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